IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-2097

DIANE PETTY and KEVIN FARMER,

Petitioners,

v.

Lower Tribunal Nos.: 2D09-3749 04-2449CA

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

FREEMON & MILLER, P.A.

Bob G. Freemon Florida Bar No. 0328294 Ron A. Hobgood Florida Bar No. 197161 8381 Gunn Hwy Tampa, FL 33626 (813) 926-0777 (813) 926-1777 (facsimile) BFreemon@FreemonLaw.com

Attorneys for Petitioners

CREED & GOWDY, P.A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Is an insured's claim under section 627.428, Florida Statutes (2007) for attorney's fees – incurred in a pre-insolvency suit against a now-insolvent insurer that confessed judgment – a "covered claim" under section 631.54(3), Florida Statutes (2007) that the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association ("FIGA") must pay? Petitioners, Diane Petty and Kevin Farmer (collectively, "Petty") and the Third District say "yes." *See Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc. v. Soto*, 979 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). Respondent FIGA and the Second District say "no." *See Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Petty*, 44 So. 3d 1191 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010).

Facts and Procedural Background¹

The trial court decided this case on cross-motions for summary judgment, as

the material facts were undisputed. (R3.462-67.) The Second District's recitation

of the material facts and procedural history in the trial court are quoted below:

[FIGA] appeals a final judgment awarding attorney's fees of \$29,300 in favor of [Petty] in Petty's action seeking to enforce an appraisal award concerning damages resulting from [a] [h]urricane.

. . . .

At the time of the hurricane damage to Petty's home in August 2004, Florida Preferred Property Insurance Company (Florida Preferred) insured the home. After Petty received partial payment for some of the damages sustained, she demanded an appraisal to resolve the dispute

¹ Citations to the record from the trial court are in the format (R1.100), with the 1 being the volume number and 100 being the page number. We also have prepared an appendix, consisting of selected legal authorities not easily located on online databases. Citations to the appendix are in the format (App. 1, at 10), with 1 being the appendix tab and 10 being the page number (if necessary).

concerning the value of the covered loss. Florida Preferred refused to submit to the appraisal process, and Petty filed suit to compel an appraisal. An appraisal was eventually completed, and the award filed with the court indicated that Florida Preferred owed Petty more money under the policy terms. Petty filed a motion to confirm the award, a motion for entry of a final judgment, and a motion for an award of attorney's fees under section 627.428. Florida Preferred paid more insurance benefits but shortly thereafter became insolvent, and an automatic stay was entered in the lawsuit.

[In May] 2008, Petty filed a motion to lift the stay, reopen the case, and substitute FIGA as the defendant. FIGA was served with the complaint and, ultimately, the parties stipulated that the only issue that remained unresolved was whether FIGA could be required to pay Petty's attorney's fees and costs incurred in the litigation with Florida Preferred. Based on this stipulation, FIGA responded to the complaint. There were no factual disputes on this narrow issue, and the parties filed competing motions for summary judgment.

The trial court determined that Florida Preferred's payment of the appraisal award to Petty constituted a confession of judgment by the insurer and thus invoked the mandatory attorney's fee provisions of section 627.428. The court recognized that under section 631.57(1), FIGA was "obligated to the extent of the covered claims" that existed before the adjudication of insolvency. Relying in part upon *Soto*, the trial court determined that the right to fees under section 627.428 was a covered claim in this case. Therefore, the trial court granted Petty's motion for partial summary judgment and denied FIGA's cross motion for summary judgment. The trial court later entered a final judgment in Petty's favor. The judgment reflects that the parties stipulated to the amount of \$29,300 "for all costs and fees awarded pursuant to \$ 627.428."

Petty, 44 So. 3d at 1192-93. Not noted in the Second District's opinion were the undisputed facts that: (1) the \$29,300 for the fees and costs awarded were incurred solely in the pre-insolvency suit against Florida Preferred (not in the post-

insolvency suit against FIGA), and (2) Petty actually paid her counsel these fees and costs. (R3:424 ¶5, 435 ¶7, 472.)

Conflicting Decisions of the Second and Third Districts

In reviewing the trial court's judgment, the Second District began its analysis with a review of section 627.428, Florida Statutes (2007), the statutory provision entitling Petty to attorney's fees from her insurer. *Id.* at 1193. That section states in pertinent part:

(1) Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had.

. . . .

(3) When so awarded, compensation or fees of the attorney shall be included in the judgment or decree rendered in the case.

§ 627.428, Fla. Stat. (2007). The Second District construed this statute as a

penalty, finding that it must be strictly construed. Petty, 44 So. 3d at 1193.

The Second District next examined section 631.70, Florida Statutes

(2007), which is part of the Florida Insurance Guaranty Act (the "Act" or the

"Florida Act"). Id. It provides:

The provisions of s. 627.428 providing for an attorney's fee shall not be applicable to any claim presented to [FIGA] under the provisions of this part, except when [FIGA] denies by affirmative action, other than delay, a covered claim or a portion thereof.

§ 631.70, Fla. Stat. (2007). The Second District noted that "FIGA did not wrongfully refuse to pay any policy benefits." *Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1193.

Then, the Second District noted that, under the Act, FIGA is obligated to pay covered claims existing either before an insurer's insolvency or within 30 days after the insurer is determined to be insolvent *Id.* (citing § 631.57(1)(a)1.a, Fla. Stat. (2007)). The Second District concluded that a section 627.428 claim for attorney's fees did not satisfy the definition of a "covered claim" under section 631.54(3), another statute that is part of the Act. *Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1193-94. That statute states in pertinent part:

"Covered claim" means an unpaid claim, including one of unearned premiums, which arises out of, and is within the coverage, and not in excess of, the applicable limits of an insurance policy to which this part applies, issued by an insurer, if such insurer becomes an insolvent insurer and the claimant or insured is a resident of this state at the time of the insured event or the property from which the claim arises is permanently located in this state.[²]

§ 631.54(3), Fla. Stat. (2007) (emphasis added).

Though acknowledging that section 627.428 was a part of every insurance policy, the Second District reasoned that fact did not mean an insured's claim for

² Some of the commas contained in section 631.54(3) were not contained in the original bill passed by the Legislature and appear to have been erroneously placed in the statute by the Division of Statutory Revision. *See infra* 19 n.10; Ch. 70-20, § 5(4), at 92, Laws of Fla.

fees under section 627.428 was "within the coverage" of the policy because, in the Second District's view, there was a "distinction between liabilities arising by operation of law and liabilities arising by express contractual terms." *Id.* at 1194-95 (internal quotations omitted). And, according to the Second District, the Legislature had linked "covered claims to coverage provisions, rather than legal liabilities" and had "limited FIGA's obligation to the <u>express</u> terms of the policy." *Id.* at 1195 (emphasis added) (internal quotations omitted). Because Petty's insurance policy did not expressly provide coverage for fees claimed under section 627.428, the Second District concluded that the Act and section 631.54(3) did not obligate FIGA to pay fees claimed under section 627.428. *Id.*

The Second District's decision in the instant case was founded in large part on its prior decision in *Florida Insurance Guaranty Ass'n v. All the Way with Bill Vernay, Inc.*, 864 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). *See Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1194. In that case, the insurer breached its duty to defend under a liability insurance policy, causing the insured to incur legal expenses to defend a lawsuit. *All the Way*, 864 So. 2d at 1127-29. The Second District agreed that the insured's losses were of the type that "arise out of" an insurance policy. *Id.* at 1130. But, the Second District reasoned, the insured's losses were not "within the [policy's] coverage" because the policy, by its express terms, merely obligated the insurer itself to incur the legal expenses or "to pay all reasonable [legal] expenses incurred by the insured *at [the insurer's] request." Id.* The Second District suggested that, for the insured's losses to be "within the [policy's] coverage," the policy had to have a provision expressly requiring payment of legal expenses that were both incurred by the insured and not requested by the insurer. *Id.* Thus, the Second District concluded in *All the Way* that the insured's claim for its incurred legal expenses was not a "covered claim" under section 631.54(3). *Id.* at 1130-31.

In the instant case, the Second District recognized that its decision conflicted with the Third District's decision in *Soto* and thus it certified a conflict. *Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1195 (citing *Soto*, 979 So. 2d at 964). In *Soto*, the insured settled her suit with her insurer in exchange for a lump sum payment and an amount for attorney's fees to be determined by the court. 979 So. 2d at 965. Before the court could determine that amount, the insurer became insolvent. *Id*. When the insured sued FIGA to collect under the settlement agreement, FIGA denied that the insured's claim for fees was a "covered claim" that it had to pay. *Id*.

The Third District disagreed, holding that the claim for fees was a "covered claim" that FIGA had to pay:

[T]here is no doubt that [the insured's] original claim against the insolvent insurer arose from a policy and that it was covered. In Florida, automobile insurance policies are subject as a matter of law to the obligation to reimburse an insured for attorney's fees and costs if the insured prevails in a lawsuit for payment of a claim under the policy. [§ 627.428, Fla. Stat. (2001).] The Florida Supreme Court has held that section 627.428 is an implicit part of all insurance policies of the kind involved here. *See State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Palma*, 629

So.2d 830, 832 (Fla. 1993). It follows that [the insured's] stipulated but unpaid attorney's fee judgment is a "covered claim" within the meaning of subsection 631.54(3).

The original insurer . . . acknowledged its obligations by settling for two payments: (1) a fixed amount immediately; and (2) an unliquidated amount of attorney's fees and costs when calculated by the court. The contractual obligations of the original insurer merged into the judgments approving that settlement and liquidating the claim amount. While FIGA is not responsible for further attorney's fees and costs incurred by the insured under section 627.428 after the insolvency–section 631.70 allows an exception as to post-insolvency fees and costs incurred by the insured when FIGA wrongly denies a claim–it is not relieved of the obligation to pay the insured's attorney's fees and costs incurred pre-insolvency for prevailing on a "covered claim." To so hold would be to disregard the remedial purposes of the FIGA statute and to place the insured in a worse position, not the same position, than the insured occupied pre-insolvency with regard to the operative insurance policy.

Soto, 979 So. 2d at 966. The Third District also distinguished the Second District's

decision in *All the Way* on the ground that *Soto* involved a settlement agreement while *All the Way* did not, and it would be unfair and contrary to the Act's purpose to allow FIGA to accept the lump-sum payment from the settlement and reject the unliquidated attorney's fee portion of the settlement. *Id.* at 967.

In light of the certified conflict with *Soto*, Petty timely invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, and this Court decided to exercise jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petty's section 627.428 claim for attorney's fees – incurred in a preinsolvency suit against her insurer that confessed judgment – is a "covered claim" under section 631.54(3) and the Act that FIGA must pay. This is the only reasonable conclusion based on the Act's text, purpose, history, and case law. The Second District's construction – that a claim is "covered" only if it arises out of an express coverage provision – is unsupported by tools of statutory construction.

Beginning with the statute's text, the Second District's construction was based on the phrase "within the coverage." But, under dictionary and statutory definitions, this phrase means that, for a claim to be "covered," it must arise out of a <u>contractual</u> obligation, rather than an out of an <u>extra-contractual</u> obligation. It does not mean that a claim must arise out of an <u>express</u> contractual obligation, rather than an <u>implied</u> contractual obligation. Insurance contracts are heavily regulated. Obligations under the insurance code – including an insurer's obligation to pay fees – are part of the insurance contract, even if not expressly mentioned therein. The statute's text does not support any decision to treat statutory and implied contractual obligations differently from express contractual obligations.

This disparate treatment also undermines the Act's purpose of protecting Florida's insureds. The Second District's construction leaves insureds unpaid anytime an insolvent insurer fails to expressly include in its policy a statutory obligation. For example, if an insolvent insurer's policy does not expressly provide the statutorily required minimum coverage, the Second District's decision authorizes FIGA to ignore the insurance code and pay the insured only the lesser amount stated in the policy. The Second District's decision deprives insureds of many statutorily-required insurance benefits, not just attorney's fees benefits.

The Second District's decision to exclude fee claims from the definition of "covered claim" is particularly unsupported given the Act's history. Shortly after the Act was enacted in 1970 from the NAIC Model Bill, a question arose whether pre-insolvency fees could be a "covered claim." But Florida courts, from 1980 to 2008, held that statutory claims for pre-insolvency fees could be a "covered claim." During this same time, eighteen state legislatures amended their similar, NAIC definition of "covered claim" to exclude fees. The Florida Legislature did not do this, though it did amend the definition in other ways after the Florida court decisions. The Second District's decision unravels forty years of history, and it improperly contravenes legislative intent.

Finally, section 631.70's prohibition on fees does not apply to Petty's property loss claim because that claim was never presented to FIGA. Nor does that statute's prohibition apply to Petty's distinct pre-insolvency fee claim because FIGA affirmatively denied that claim. Accordingly, Section 631.70 does not excuse FIGA from paying Petty's pre-insolvency fee claim.

9

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED: IS AN INSURED'S CLAIM UNDER SECTION 627.428 FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES – INCURRED IN A PRE-INSOLVENCY SUIT AGAINST A NOW-INSOLVENT INSURER THAT CONFESSED JUDGMENT – A "COVERED CLAIM" UNDER SECTION 631.54(3) THAT FIGA MUST PAY?

Standard of Review. Because this is an appeal of a summary judgment order that involves solely the interpretation of statutes, the standard of review is de novo. E.g., Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc., 961 So. 2d 328, 331 (Fla. 2007); Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P., 760 So. 2d 126, 130-31 (Fla. 2000). In interpreting the pertinent statutes, this Court must give effect to legislative intent, which is the polestar of any statutory analysis. E.g., Bautista v. State, 863 So. 2d 1180, 1185-86 (Fla. 2003). This Court should "first look to the actual language used in the statute." E.g., id. When the statutory language is unclear, this Court next applies rules of statutory construction and explores legislative history to determine legislative intent. E.g., id. In discerning legislative intent, this Court considers "the statute as a whole, including the evil to be corrected, the language, title, and history of its enactment, and the state of law already in existence on the statute." E.g., id.

Merits. The resolution of this appeal turns primarily on the interpretation of

three statutes: sections 627.428, 631.54(3), and 631.70, Florida Statutes (2007).³ Because the meaning of section 631.54(3)'s definition of "covered claim" is unclear, *see infra* at 28, it is appropriate to apply rules of statutory construction, explore legislative history, and consider the statute as a whole to determine its legislative intent. *E.g., Bautista*, 863 So. 2d at 1185-86. In Part I, we explain the history and background of these statutes. In Part II, we argue that an insured's claim under section 627.428 for attorney's fees – incurred in a pre-insolvency suit against a now-insolvent insurer that confessed judgment – is a "covered claim" under section 631.54(3) that FIGA must pay. In Part III, we contend that section 631.70 does not apply in this case because it merely limits claims against FIGA for section 627.428 fees incurred in a post-insolvency suit against FIGA.

I. History and background of the statutes

A. Section 627.428

Section 627.428 and its predecessor statutes have been a part of Florida law for almost 120 years. *See Tillis v. Liverpool & London & Globe Ins. Co.*, 35 So.

³ Like the Second District, we cite herein to the 2007 version of the Florida statutes. *See Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1192. Arguably, the 2004 version of section 627.428 should apply because the original complaint was filed in December 2004. (R1:1); *cf. Bionetics Corp. v. Kenniasty*, __So. 3d __, No. SC09-1243 (Fla. Feb. 10, 2011) (holding that the applicable version of an attorney's fee statute was the version in effect when the complaint was filed, rather than when the motion for fees was filed). For all the statutes cited herein, however, there have been no material amendments since 2004; therefore, the Court's decision will be the same whether it applies the 2004, 2007, or 2010 version of the Florida statutes.

171, 174 (Fla. 1903) (citing Ch. 4173, Laws of Florida (1893) and § 625.08, Fla. Stat. (repealed by Ch. 59-205, § 816, Laws of Fla.)); § 627.0127, Fla. Stat. (renumbered in 1971 to § 627.428, Fla. Stat.). Currently, the statute is codified under the "Insurance Contract" part of Chapter 627. The statute entitles an insured to an award of a reasonable attorney's fees in the event of a judgment against an insurer in favor of its insured in a suit arising "under a policy or contract executed by the insurer." § 627.428(1), Fla. Stat. (2007). The statute states the award "shall be included" in the underlying judgment rendered in favor of the insured. *Id.* § 627.428(3).

For almost seventy-five years, this Court and the district courts of appeal consistently have held that section 627.428 or its predecessors is a part of every insurance contract in Florida.⁴ The purpose of section 627.428 and its predecessors has been to discourage insurers from contesting valid claims by insureds and to pay insureds for the losses they suffer when compelled to sue their insurers to enforce their insurance policies.⁵ Though section 627.428(1)'s plain

⁴ Pendas v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of U.S., 176 So. 104, 112 (Fla. 1937); accord State Farm Fire & Cas. Co v. Palma, 629 So. 2d 830, 832 (Fla. 1993); Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Palmer, 297 So. 2d 96, 99 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974); Old Republic Ins. Co. v. Monsees, 188 So. 2d 893, 895 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966).

⁵ Feller v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of U.S., 57 So. 2d 581, 586 (Fla. 1952); accord Palma, 629 So. 2d at 833; Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. Lexow, 602 So. 2d 528, 531 (Fla. 1992); Travelers Indem. Ins. Co. of Ill. v. Meadows MRI, LLP, 900 So. 2d 676, 679 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

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