IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-2097

Lower Tribunal Nos.: 2D09-3749 04-2449CA

DIANE PETTY and KEVIN FARMER,

Petitioners,

VS.

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

G. WILLIAM BISSETT, ESQ.

Florida Bar No.: 297127

COURTNEY A. UMBERGER, ESQ.

Florida Bar No.: 88240 KUBICKI DRAPER, P.A. City National Bank Building

Penthouse

25 West Flagler Street

Miami, Florida 33130

Telephone No.: (305) 374-1212 Facsimile No.: (305) 374-7846 Counsel for the Respondent DOROTHY VENABLE DIFIORE, ESQ.

Florida Bar No.: 962139

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On de novo review, this Court should affirm the Second District's decision in *Petty*. Attorney's fees, which are assessed as a penalty pursuant to section 627.428 in litigation against an insurer, who becomes insolvent before those fees can be paid, are not "covered claims" under the FIGA Act for which FIGA may be held liable. As the Second District correctly concluded, "section 631.54(3) does not impose coverage for fees claimed under section 627.428 when such fees are not within the insurance policy's coverage provisions." *Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1195. Based on a plain reading of the statutory limitations included in the FIGA Act, supported by legislative history, case authority, fundamental rules of statutory construction, and public policy, it is

clear that the Florida Legislature never intended for FIGA to be held liable for attorney's fees, awarded pursuant to 627.428, for the actions of a now-insolvent insurer over which FIGA had no control.

FIGA's payment obligations are strictly limited by statute to "covered claims." Such limitation reflects an intention that FIGA, although responsible for the payment of "covered claims" to help protect insureds, not be required to take on all of the liabilities of insolvent insurers. As defined in plain and unambiguous language in section 631.54(3), Florida Statutes (2007), "covered claims" are only those that "arise[] out of, and [are] within the coverage, and not in excess of, the applicable limits of an insurance policy." Based on the plain language of the statute, and specifically the plain and ordinary meaning of "within the coverage" as construed by Florida courts, FIGA's obligations are restricted solely to the insurance coverage provisions in the insolvent insurer's policy. That "covered claims" are those created by the "coverage" provisions of an insurance policy is the very point of the definition.

Such a reading of "covered claims," supported by case authority from Florida and foreign jurisdictions, is not undermined by the fact that section 627.428 has been deemed to be an implied part of every insurance policy. As the Second District held in *Petty*, "the fact that section 627.428 is an implicit part of an insurance policy does not mean that the insured's claim against the insurer for fees and costs is part of the policy's coverage." *Petty*, 44 So. 3d at 1194. What Petitioners fail to grasp in arguing

to the contrary is the distinction, which must be made in determining what constitutes a "covered claim," between those statutes that regulate the substantive contents or terms of an insurance policy and those that regulate or control interpretation of, and disputes over, the coverage provided by the policy itself. The former statutes require or mandate provisions that must be included in a given policy of insurance, and if the insurer fails to so include them, then the courts will in essence reform the policy so as to include such provisions. The latter statutes govern the disputes or questions that arise regarding the actual coverage provisions. The former are properly applied to determine whether a claim is a "covered claim"; the latter are properly applied to govern the dispute related to the covered claim. FIGA is subject to the statutes that govern disputes over the coverage terms. Thus, while FIGA agrees that a claim for attorney's fees would be a "covered claim" if the policy in question stated that it provided coverage for the particular attorney's fees at issue, that simply is not the case herein.

In addition to the limitation that FIGA only be held liable for payment of "covered claims," FIGA may not be held liable for "penalties," pursuant to section 631.57(1)(b). Attorney's fees awarded pursuant to section 627.428 have consistently been held by Florida courts to constitute a "penalty," and thus a plain reading of 631.57(1)(b) makes clear that FIGA may not be held liable for those fees. This reading is confirmed by fundamental rules of statutory construction and legislative

history. In order to give full effect to section 631.57(1)(b), the penalty clause must be read to modify the types of claims and obligations for which FIGA may be held liable. As the Legislature made clear, the purpose behind enactment of 631.57(1)(b) is to protect FIGA from having to make payments for penalties caused by wrongful action and delay *on the part of the insolvent insurer*. The Legislature did not intend to subject FIGA to penalties for the actions of an insolvent insurer over which FIGA had no control.

Similarly, section 631.70, when read in conjunction with existing Florida case authority addressing FIGA's liability for fees, demonstrates that the only instances in which the Legislature intended FIGA to be held liable for section 627.428 fees, are those in which FIGA, by its own affirmative action other than delay, denies a "covered claim." The plain language of section 631.70 reflects an express limitation on the applicability of 627.428 to all claims presented to FIGA for payment. Despite Petitioners' misreading of the statute and confusion of the issue, insureds and claimants are always obligated to bring their "unpaid" pre-insolvency claims to FIGA for payment once an insurer becomes insolvent. Without 631.70, every unpaid claim, pending against an insurer at the time of an insolvency, could result in a judgment (whether actual or by "confession") against FIGA, deemed to be the "insurer," thus triggering an award of attorney's fees under section 627.428. To avoid this, the Legislature clearly limited FIGA's obligation to pay section 627.428 fees in any claim presented to it to those instances in which FIGA's own affirmative actions prompted legal activity. This reading of the statute is supported by legislative history. Additionally, a critical review of Florida case authority to which Petitioners cite, suggests that worker's compensation cases, in which attorney's fees are mandated by statute to be "within the coverage" of the compensation policy, and must be paid pursuant to section 440.34, are inapposite. Such cases thus buttress the conclusion FIGA advocates — only when a statute requires that an insurance policy "provide coverage" for the attorney's fees being demanded, must FIGA treat such as a "covered claim." Such is not the case here.

While the statutory provisions outlined above limit the payment obligations for which FIGA may be held liable, the acceptance of such statutory limitations is not a ruling in favor of the insurance industry. Rather, such limitations are in accord with the purpose of the FIGA Act and are consistent with the financial reality that FIGA's assessments are ultimately the burden of every insurance policyholder in Florida. By advocating that FIGA be held responsible for the payment of section 627.428 attorney's fees, Petitioners seek to increase the costs of insurance for all Florida policyholders and impose entirely unwarranted penalties on FIGA for actions over which it has no control. This Court should therefore affirm the Second District's decision in *Petty*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, this Court must determine if the Second District Court of Appeal correctly interpreted and applied the FIGA Act, codified as sections 631.50 through 631.70, Florida Statutes (2007). As the issue in this case requires statutory interpretation, the standard of review is de novo. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hosp.*, *Inc.*, 961 So. 2d 328, 331 (Fla. 2007); see *Found. Health v. Westside EKG Assoc.*, 944 So. 2d 188, 193–94 (Fla. 2006) (noting that the standard of review for questions of statutory interpretation is de novo).

ARGUMENT

STATUTORY ATTORNEY'S FEES ASSESSED AGAINST AN INSURER UNDER SECTION 627.428, PRIOR TO THE INSURER'S INSOLVENCY, DO NOT CONSTITUTE A "COVERED CLAIM" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 631.54(3) OF THE FIGA ACT, WHEN SUCH FEES ARE CLEARLY NOT WITHIN THE COVERAGE OF, AND LIKELY ARE IN EXCESS OF THE APPLICABLE LIMITS OF THE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED BY THE INSOLVENT INSURER, AND SUCH FEES HAVE CONSTITUTED A "PENALTY," WHICH IS NOT A COMPENSABLE "COVERED CLAIM" UNDER SECTION 631.57(1)(b)

A. FIGA Was Created to Provide a *Limited* Level of Relief to Florida Citizens Following the Insolvency of Their Insurers, and Was Not Created to Avoid All Financial Loss to Claimants and Policyholders by Paying All of the Liabilities of the Insolvent Insurer

The Florida Insurance Guaranty Association Act [hereinafter "FIGA Act"] was enacted in 1970. Ch. 70-20, §§ 1–19, Laws of Fla. The FIGA Act is currently codified

as sections 631.50 through 631.70, Florida Statutes (2007). The dominant purposes of the FIGA Act are stated to be: (a) to "[p]rovide a mechanism for the payment of *covered claims under certain insurance policies* to avoid excessive delay in payment and to avoid financial loss to claimants or policyholders because of the insolvency of an insurer; (b) to "[c]reate a *nonprofit corporation* to administer and supervise the operation of such association;" and (c) to "[a]ssess the cost of such protection among insurers." § 631.51(a), (c), and (d), Fla. Stat. (2007) (emphasis added).²

While FIGA was clearly intended to pay certain "covered claims" to protect insureds and certain third-party claimants, FIGA was never intended to take on all of the liabilities of insolvent insurers. FIGA is purely a creature of statute, whose obligations are strictly limited.³ The extent of FIGA's payment obligations is detailed in the terms of the statute creating the association. Those limitations on the

²While 631.51(c) states that one of FIGA's purposes is to assess "among the insurers" the cost of the statutorily designated protection provided by the FIGA Act, the undeniable reality of the statutory scheme is that the member insurers are only "fronting" the money to pay the required claims. Ultimately, the amounts paid out to insureds and claimants under the FIGA Act are *directly and legally* passed along via increased premiums to all Florida citizens purchasing insurance. *Infra* 42-47.

³Amendments to the FIGA Act since its enactment have operated to reduce FIGA's liabilities in a number of ways. For example, amendments to the Act have removed categories of insurance from the scope of the Act, prohibited subrogation actions against insolvent members, relieved FIGA from any penalty or interest liability, and established a one-year statute of limitations period for claims brought against the association. *See* Ch. 71-970, § 19, at 12, Laws of Fla.; Ch. 77-227, §§ 1–3, at 1152–53, Laws of Fla.

obligations for which FIGA may be held responsible, many of which are discussed in more detail below, include the following: (1) FIGA is only "obligated to the extent of the *covered claims* existing (a) prior to adjudication of insolvency and arising within 30 days after the determination of insolvency; (b) before the policy expiration date if less than 30 days after the determination; or (c) before the insured replaces the policy or causes its cancellation, if she or he does so within 30 days of the determination," § 631.57(1)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (2007) (emphasis added); (2) the maximum amount payable on a "covered claim" (not involving condominiums) is limited by a statutory cap of \$300,000, with an automatic \$100 deductible, \$631.57(1)(a)2, Fla. Stat. (2007); (3) "[i]n no event shall the association be obligated to a policyholder or claimant in an amount in excess of the *obligation* of the insolvent insurer *under the policy* from which the claims arises," § 631.57(1)(a)3, Fla. Stat. (2007) (emphasis added); (4) "[i]n no event shall the association be liable for penalties or interest, "§ 631.57(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2007); (5) FIGA cannot be held liable for an excess judgment caused by the bad faith of an insolvent insurer, see Rivera v. S. Am. Fire Ins. Co., 361 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); (6) FIGA cannot be held liable for the alleged bad-faith failure to settle a claim presented to it, see Fernandez v. Florida Ins. Guar.

⁴Thus, for example, multiple survivors under the Wrongful Death Act, suing for the death of one person caused by the act of a single insured, were entitled to only a single \$300,000 claim against FIGA, even though the policy provided far more generous "per occurrence" coverage of \$1,000,000. *Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc. v.*

Ass'n, 383 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). In discussing the limitations on FIGA's obligations, the Third District Court of Appeal aptly observed, "[s]ince, absent Chapter 631, FIGA would not exist and there would be no effective remedy to recover on any claims whatever against insolvent insurers, there can be no constitutional infirmity in the Legislature's decision to limit those newly-created rights." *Id.* at 976 (emphasis added).

Contrary to Petitioners assertions, the Legislature did not draft the FIGA Act so as to place Florida insureds in the same position they would have been in if their insurer had not become insolvent. (Pet'rs' Br. 37). While FIGA may be obligated to pay certain covered claims, just as the insolvent insurer would have been, it does not automatically assume *all* of the insolvent insurers liabilities. As the Fifth District Court of Appeal has simply stated, "the full gamut of a defunct insurance company's liabilities was not intended to be shifted onto FIGA." *Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc. v. Olympus Ass'n, Inc.*, 34 So. 3d 791, 794 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (quoting *Williams v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc.*, 549 So. 2d 253, 254 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)). ⁵ Rather, the FIGA Act evidences a clear legislative intent to limit the obligations for which FIGA

Cole, 573 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), rev. denied, 584 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1991).

⁵As explained in *Schreffler v. Pennsylvania Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 586 A. 2d 983, 985 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1991), "the Act does *not* intend to place a claimant in all cases in the *same* position she would have been had the insurance company remained solvent. The Act creates a means by which limited recovery may be had in instances where none would have been possible due to insolvency" (emphasis added).

may be held responsible. This only makes sense given that it is not the member insurers, but the entire insurance-purchasing public in Florida that ultimately bears the burden of the costs incurred by FIGA in paying claims under the FIGA Act. As the court aptly observed in *Williams*:

If FIGA had been intended to be a successor in all regards to an insolvent insurer's obligations and liabilities to a policyholder, such limiting language would not be necessary. The legislature could simply have made FIGA a statutory successor to defunct insurance companies. No doubt because it was intended that the claims preserved for payment by Chapter 631 would be manageable and not bankrupt the statute's funding and payment mechanism, it was necessary to limit them not only as to total amount, but also as to substance-covered claims under existing policies.

549 So. 2d at 254 (emphasis added).

In determining whether FIGA will be held responsible for the payment of attorney's fees as a "substance-covered claim under an existing policy," this Court must determine the meaning of "covered claim" under section 631.54(3). In general, "a two-part test is applied to determine whether a state guaranty fund is obligated to assume the payment obligations of the insolvent insurer. First, the claim must be one that would have been covered by the insolvent carrier. Second, the claim must fit within the statutory definition of a covered claim. . . . " Jeff Hawkins, Which Faultless Party Will Be Forced to Pay for Another's Failure? A Proposal for Legislatively Extending the Use of State Guaranty Funds to Absorb the Orphan Shares of Long-Tail Claim, 37

TEX. TECH L. REV. 215, 227 (Winter 2004). Thus, to determine whether or not the payment of attorney's fees, pursuant to section 627.428, Florida Statutes, is a "covered claim" for which FIGA should be held liable, this Court must look to the plain language of section 631.54(3).

B. The Plain Meaning of Section 631.54(3), Florida Statutes, Makes Clear that FIGA May Not be Held Liable for the Payment of Attorney's Fees, Pursuant to Section 627.428, as They Are Not "Covered Claims" that Are Within the Coverage of, and Not in Excess of the Applicable Limits of the Policy Issued by the Insolvent Insurer

In limiting the extent of relief provided to claimants and policyholders, the Florida Legislature restricted FIGA's obligations solely to "covered claims," which it defined in plain and unambiguous language. § 631.54(3), Fla. Stat. (2007). Section 631.54(3) defines "covered claim," in pertinent part, as:

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